STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

 ORIGINAL

Appeal from York County

John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAY 13 2015

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DOMINIQUE JULIUS AGURS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2014- 000960

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN H. STROM
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I.

Did the trial court abuse its discretion by refusing to grant a mistrial where the lead investigator improperly placed Appellant's character and prior arrests at issue by making a comment on direct examination that he "had dealt with [Appellant] before" while assigned to the Street Crimes Unit?

II.

Did the trial court abuse its discretion in admitting Appellant's "mug-shot" photograph into evidence when the State failed to establish that the photograph was necessary to identify Appellant and the "mug-shot" was introduced only to draw attention to the circumstances under which it was taken and to suggest that Appellant had a criminal record; thus making it unfairly prejudicial?

III.

Did the trial court commit reversible error in refusing to grant a mistrial after members of the jury prematurely deliberated before closing arguments as an unsigned note inquired to the judge about photographs presented at trial that were critical to Appellant's defense, and the trial court posited highly suggestive leading questions to the foreman and alternate juror which failed to adequately determine whether premature deliberations took place or negatively impacted Appellant's right to a fair trial?

IV.

Did the trial court abuse its discretion in refusing to grant a new trial where the cumulative effect of the errors was so prejudicial as to deprive Appellant of a fair trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 12, 2013, the York County Grand Jury indicted for Appellant distribution of crack cocaine. R. 244. On February 24, 2014, the State filed notice of intent to seek a sentence of life without parole. R. 5, ll. 1-7.

On April 21, 2014, Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III, and a jury. R. 1. Michael G. Mathews represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitor Mathew Shelton represented the State. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 235, ll. 1-9. The court sentenced Appellant to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. R. 241, ll. 25 – R. 242, ll. 1.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 5, 2013, at the direction of law enforcement, Michael Tumblin, contacted an individual he knew only as D.J. to purchase one ounce of crack cocaine. R. 8, ll. 3-23. Tumblin, an admitted drug user with a lengthy criminal record, had agreed to work as confidential informant in order to receive cooperation credit and money to pay off outstanding traffic violations. R. 55, ll. 1 – R. 57, ll. 14; R. 111, ll. 12-24. To purchase the drugs, Tumblin was provided with eighty dollars. R. 65, ll. 5-14. Tumblin was searched and then driven by undercover officers to the location of the drug buy. R. 65, ll. 13 – R. 66, ll. 24. He was also equipped with a concealed, chest-mounted camera and microphone to record the transaction. R. 66, ll. 19 – R. 67, ll. 6.

Tumblin entered the target vehicle and left a few seconds later. R. 125, ll. 19-20. The driver of the vehicle never got out of the car and the undercover officers surveilling the area could not see who was in the vehicle or observe what transpired. R. 124, ll. 10 – R. 125, ll. 23. The video footage recorded by Tumblin did not show a hand to hand transaction or an exchange of money.¹ Tumblin left the vehicle and headed toward the undercover car, during his return he walked near to several people and parked vehicles. R. 125, ll. 11-24. Tumblin also briefly walked behind an adjacent building; later claiming to be looking for the police car. *Id.* Once in the police car, Tumblin handed over crack cocaine he claimed to have bought while in the vehicle. R. 128, ll. 16-24. The substance Tumblin produced was determined to be eight tenths of a gram of crack cocaine. R.137, ll. 14-16.

¹ The video footage was entered into the trial record as State's Exhibit No. 2, and is on file with this Court.

During the course of the investigation, Tumblin identified Appellant as the individual he knew as D.J. in a photographic lineup chosen by Investigator Leland Harrelson.² R. 80, ll. 4-18. The lineup included two individuals with significantly lighter complexions than the Appellant. R. 177, ll. 2-6. Tumblin wrote the wrong date on the lineup, indicating it took place on March 5, 2012 instead of March 5, 2013. R. 155, ll. 6-10. Moreover, the time stamp on the undercover video recording indicated that the alleged controlled buy took place several years before the date of the investigation. R. 139, ll. 13-21. In addition, no law enforcement officer signed, dated, or time stamped the last page of the lineup where Tumblin acknowledged that the identification was not the result of intimidation or coercion. *Id.*

Police arrested Applicant on March 21, 2013. R. 169, ll. 4-8. None of the marked buy-money was recovered. R. 222, ll. 21 – R. 223, ll. 6.

Pre-Trial Motions

On April 21, 2014, defense counsel made a series of pre-trial motions. First, counsel objected to the State's plan to introduce Appellant's mug-shot into evidence.³ R. 2, ll. 12-15. Initially, it was thought that Appellant would not be present for trial and so the mug-shot would have assisted the jury in identification. R. 27, ll. 17-19. Appellant was present for trial. The State nonetheless argued that Appellant's mug-shot would still help the jury determine the identification of the individual in the undercover video because the trial was over a year after the buy, so the mug-shot might somehow help the jury more accurately identify Appellant as he appeared at his arrest and that such an identification was relevant to their deliberations. R. 2, 21-

² The photograph line-up was entered into the trial record as State's Exhibit No. 4, and is on file with this Court.

³ This photograph was entered into the trial record as State's Exhibits No. 7 and 8 and is on file with this Court.

24. Despite finding that the State did not need the evidence, in light of Appellant's attendance, the trial court overruled the objection. R. 3, ll. 7-15.

Testimony of Confidential Informant Michael Tumblin

At trial, Tumblin was the State's second witness and the first to testify extensively on the controlled buy. R. 54, ll. 9 – R. 59, ll. 19. The State moved into evidence the video footage and the recording of a telephone call between Tumblin and D.J. R. 64, ll. 6-24; R. 67, ll. 7 – R. 68, ll. 14. Tumblin also testified regarding the above-referenced meeting with D.J. and his subsequent identification of the Appellant.

Testimony of Investigator Harrelson

The State also called Investigator Harrelson to testify. R. 101, ll. 1-17. Harrelson testified on his knowledge of drug sales, how law enforcement uses informants and the particular benefits Tumblin received for his involvement. R. 113, ll. 4 – R. 129, ll. 1. Harrelson then testified as to the chain of custody of the substance that he received from Tumblin following the buy. R. 129, ll. 2 – R. 135, ll. 8. When the State attempted to put a photograph of the substance in Tumblin's hand into evidence, defense counsel objected that under Rule 901 of S.C. R. Evid. there was no testimony authenticating or information supporting that the picture showed crack cocaine. R. 135, ll. 12-16. The court overruled the objection, however the Court did rule that Harrelson could not call the substance crack cocaine until it had been identified. *Id.* at ll. 17-18; R. 138, ll. 2-8.

The State then attempted to enter three photographs into evidence and, upon objection by counsel, the trial court held an *in camera* review. R. 141, ll. 15-20. The photographs purported to show: (1) Appellant in his vehicle taken by Tumblin's concealed camera; (2) the marked money that was used in the alleged drug buy, but never recovered; and (3) a picture of the substance allegedly purchased from Appellant in Tumblin's hand. R. 140, ll. 19-23. The trial court

overruled the objection, but instructed Harrelson not to testify that he believed it was Appellant in the photograph.

When the jury returned, Harrelson testified as to the content of the photographs within the limitations set by the trial court. R. 145, ll. 1-25. However, the State then asked Harrelson if he recognized the driver of the vehicle they observed. R. 146, ll. 1-3. Harrelson answered, “**Yes. I had dealt with him before when I was on the Street Crimes Unit with the City of Rock Hill.**” R. 146, ll. 5-6 (*emphasis added*). Defense counsel promptly objected and moved for a mistrial on the basis that Harrelson brought into issue Appellant’s past criminal record before Appellant has decided whether or not to testify. *Id.* at ll. 13-25. The Court declined to grant a mistrial, “because I don’t believe there is any manifest necessity based on that one interjection.” R. 148, ll. 9-10. The trial court also expressed skepticism that a curative instruction would fix the problem, and instead warned Harrelson not to make such references again. R. 148, ll. 11-14; R. 149, ll. 11-22. Harrelson then testified that he knew Appellant prior to the drug buy and that he identified Appellant based on the video surveillance. R. 150, ll. 9-23.

The State’s next witness, James Long, the records custodian at York County jail, testified about the circumstances in which the mug-shot was taken. R. 184, ll. 1-12. Long stated that he was the records custodian in March of 2013, but that he would have access to records predating his employment. R. 182, ll. 10-16. For unknown reasons, the State twice sought clarification from Long that the photographs were taken as a result of Appellant’s March 2013 arrest. R. 182, ll. 20-22; R. 183, ll. 11-12. On the second occasion, Long replied: “[State’s Exhibits No. 7 and 8] are from his 2013 booking.” *Id.* Before the mug-shot was admitted, defense counsel renewed his objection and was overruled. *Id.* at ll. 14-20. Defense counsel did not cross examine Harrelson. R. 185, ll. 12-15. Appellant did not testify.

Premature Deliberation by the Jury

Before closing arguments, the trial judge received a note from the jury. R. 198, ll. 7-19.

The trial judge explained to the parties:

Now we received [the jury's] note that says ***there is a question about the photos of the defendant***. Was it allowed and if so, it was not published to the jury. The ***photos are [not] so much of a concern as the fact that they already got a question and they are not supposed to be discussing the case.***

Id. at ll. 14-19 (*emphasis added*). The trial judge then invited the parties to comment, *Id.* at ll. 20-23. The State declined. *Id.* Defense counsel requested a mistrial on the grounds of premature jury deliberation. R. 199, ll. 1-7.

Counsel argued it was obvious the jury was already deliberating and wanted access evidence not published by the State. *Id.* at ll. 8-15. The judge then asked the foreman of the jury, ***“I instructed you several times not to discuss the case***, so Mr. Foreman, I hate to put you on the spot, but has the jury been discussing the case?” R. 200, ll. 22-25 (*emphasis added*). The foreman replied ***“[t]here was no question [that] came up in any discussions”***. R. 201, ll. 3-4 (*emphasis added*). The foreman did not deny discussions had occurred.

The alternate juror then stepped forward and claimed the question came from him. The alternate explained that he had not discussed this concern with the other jurors. *Id.* at 5-19. The trial judge decided to dismiss the alternate juror. *Id.* The defense then renewed its motion for mistrial which was overruled because the trial court believed dismissing the alternate addressed the issue. R. 202, ll. 14 – R. 203, ll. 4. The trial judge did not give a curative instruction to the remaining jurors and did not question or allow the parties to question the remaining jurors as to other possible deliberations referenced by the foreman's response.

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court abused its discretion by refusing to grant a mistrial where the lead investigator improperly placed Appellant's character and prior arrests at issue by making a comment on direct examination that he "had dealt with [Appellant] before" while assigned to the Street Crimes Unit.

Harrelson's comment that "I had dealt with [Appellant] before when I was on the Street Crimes Unit with the City of Rock Hill" was of such a highly prejudicial nature that a curative instruction could not ensure that Appellant would receive a fair trial. R. 146, ll. 4-6. Defense counsel correctly argued that a curative instruction could not solve the prejudice created by the improper comment and that Appellant could not get a fair trial before this jury because "the cat [is] out of the bag." R. 148, ll. 22-25.

The South Carolina Supreme Court has stated that the test for granting a mistrial is whether a "mistrial was dictated by manifest necessity or the ends of public justice, the latter being defined as the public's interest in a fair trial designated to end in just judgment." *State v. Prince*, 279 S.C. 30, 33, 301 S.E.2d 471, 472 (1983). "The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law." *State v. Ferguson*, 376 S.C. 615, 618, 658 S.E.2d 101, 103 (Ct. App 2008) (citing *State v. Edwards*, 373 S.C. 230, 236, 644 S.E.2d 66, 69 (Ct. App. 2007)). "This Court favors the exercise of discretion of the trial court in determining the merits of [a mistrial] motion in each individual case." *Id.* (citing *State v. Patterson*, 337 S.C. 215, 226, 522 S.E.2d 845, 851 (Ct. App. 1999)). "Generally, a curative instruction to disregard the testimony is deemed to have cured any alleged error." *Ferguson*, 376 S.C. at 618-19, 658 S.E.2d at 103 (citing *Edwards*, 373 S.C. at 236, 644 S.E.2d at 69).

State v. Johnson, 334 S.C. 78, 91, 512 S.E.2d 795, 803 (1999) (“The prejudicial character of the error must be determined from its relationship to the entire case”). Consequently, for the harmless error rule to apply, the Court must determine “beyond a reasonable doubt the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained.” *State v. Creech*, 314 S.C. 76, 86, 441 S.E.2d 635, 640 (Ct. App. 1993) (citing *Taylor v. State*, 312 S.C. 179, 439 S.E.2d 820 (1993)).

While an instruction to disregard incompetent evidence usually is deemed to have cured the error in its admission, a mistrial may still be required if on the facts of the particular case it is probable, notwithstanding such instruction or withdrawal, the accused was prejudiced. *State v. Simpson*, 325 S.C. 37, 479 S.E.2d 57 (1996). “The vital inquiry usually is whether or not the verdict was substantially influenced by the impropriety.” 75A Am.Jur.2d *Trial* § 502 (1991) (footnotes omitted). Thus, to warrant reversal, “the errors must adversely affect [the defendant’s] right to a fair trial.” *State v. Johnson*, 334 S.C. 78, 93, 512 S.E.2d 795, 803 (1999).

Here, the “ends of public justice” require Appellant receive a new trial due to the prejudice created by Harrelson’s improper comment for three reasons. First, the improper character evidence is especially prejudicial because it emphasized to the jury that Appellant had been involved in street crimes, clearly implying narcotics, in the past and thus had the propensity to be involved in the drug trade. *Simpson*, 325 S.C. at 37, 479 S.E.2d at 57; *See also State v. Gore*, 283 S.C. 118, 121, 322 S.E.2d 12, 13 (1984) (when the previous alleged bad act is similar to the one for which the [defendant] is being tried, the danger of prejudice is enhanced).

Second, the jury could not have ignored Harrelson’s improper comment due to its “highly prejudicial nature” and the numerous mistakes and gaps in evidence produced as a result of law enforcement’s suboptimal investigation. *State v. Wilson*, 274 S.C. 635, 637-38, 266 S.E.2d 426, 427 (1980) (improper evidence of past crimes raises a legally unsound presumption of guilt in

the minds of the jurors and the danger of prejudice is enhanced when there has been no trial and conviction for the alleged previous criminal activity).

For example, the State's video surveillance did not show an actual hand to hand exchange of drugs, none of the marked dollar bills were recovered, the time stamp on the video surveillance was inaccurate, and the date which the confidential informant signed the lineup identification was wrong. R. 14, ll. 13-25; R. 117, ll. 17-21; R. 139, ll. 12-23; R. 222, ll. 15-20. In addition, Tumblin admitted that he hoped to get a reduced sentence in his case for assisting law enforcement. R. 111, ll. 1-24. Finally, Tumblin claimed that law enforcement showed him the black and white identification lineup before the alleged controlled buy and the lineup included two individuals with a significantly lighter complexion than Appellant. R. 26, ll. 2 R. 27, ll. 24.

Third, the State "enhanced the prejudice" by highlighting the reliability and expertise of Harrelson no fewer than thirteen times in an effort to explain away the weaknesses and inconsistencies in the State's case. R. 219, ll. 21-25; R. 222, ll. 23-25; R. 224, ll. 11-16; R. 225, ll. 4-24; R. 226, ll. 14-19; R. 227, ll. 9-24; R. 230, ll. 14-17. Crucially, the State assured the jury the "defense attorney may suggest to you that we don't know that this is [Appellant] independent of [the informant's] identification from the photo lineup. . . . **but Officer Harrelson knew him as well. Officer Harrelson identified him as [Appellant].**" R. 229, ll. 1-5 (*emphasis added*). This is a direct reference to the earlier improper testimony.

The State also used Harrelson's identification of Appellant to boost the credibility of the confidential informant, "[t]he evidence presented suggests that [the informant] is telling the truth. Even though he didn't know a full name.... **You heard Harrelson testify that's the man.**" R. 230, ll. 13-18 (*emphasis added*).

Therefore, as a result of the trial court's abuse of discretion and looking to the trial record as a whole, "the public's interest in a fair trial designated to end in just judgment" did not occur. *Prince*, 279 at 33, 301 S.E.2d at 472.

II.

The trial court abused its discretion in admitting Appellant’s “mug-shot” photograph into evidence when the State failed to establish that the photograph was necessary to identify Appellant and the “mug-shot” was introduced only to draw attention to the circumstances under which it was taken and to suggest that Appellant had a criminal record; thus making it unfairly prejudicial.

Evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy.” *State v. Langley*, 334 S.C. 643, 647, 515 S.E.2d 98, 100 (1999) (citing Rule 401, SCRE (providing the definition of relevant evidence)). Although photographs may be used to corroborate other evidence, it is well-established that photographs calculated to arouse the sympathies and prejudices of the jury are to be excluded if they are irrelevant or unnecessary to the issues at trial. *State v. Edwards*, 194 S.C. 410, 10 S.E.2d 587 (1940); *See* Rule 402, SCRE (“Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible”).

The introduction of a “mug-shot” of a defendant is a reversible error unless: (1) the state has a demonstrable need to introduce the photograph, (2) the photograph shown to the jury does not suggest the defendant has a criminal record, and (3) the photograph is not introduced in such a way as to draw attention to its origin or implication.⁴ *State v. Denson*, 269 S.C. 407, 237 S.E.2d 761 (1977) (citing *United States v. Harrington*, 490 F.2d 487 (2d Cir.1973)); *see also State v. Tate*, 288 S.C. 104, 341 S.E.2d 380 (1986)(in-court identification by victim and booking date on photograph made introduction of mug-shot a reversible error); *see also State v. Robinson*, 274 S.C. 198, 262 S.E.2d 729 (1980) (mug-shot admissible because defense emphasized informant’s inability to identify defendant in line-up). Because of its prejudicial impact, our Supreme Court

⁴ While a reversible error, the erroneous admission of a defendant’s “mug-shot” is subject to harmless error analysis. *State v. Traylor*, 360 S.C. 74, 85, 600 S.E.2d 523, 528 (2004) (*citing State v. Locklair*, 341 S.C. 352, 535 S.E.2d 420 (2000), *cert. denied* 531 U.S. 1093 (2001)).

admonished: “we fervently caution trial court judges against utilization of mug shot photos unless absolutely necessary.” *State v. Traylor*, 360 S.C. 74, 85, 600 S.E.2d 523, 528 (2004).

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