ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
The Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

MAY 20 2015

Appellate Case No. 2014-000960

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

DOMINIQUE JULIUS AGURS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARY W. LEDDON
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN BRACKETT
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

1675-IA York Highway
York, SC 29745

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County
The Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

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

case, the defense did not desire a curative instruction, and the trial court agreed. The Supreme Court found that “it is questionable whether the jury even understood the implication of [the agent’s] statement.” *Id.* at 12, 515 S.E.2d 514. The Supreme Court found the testimony was “only an inadvertent vague reference ... to [the defendant’s] prior criminal record,” and the Court noted that the State never attempted to introduce the defendant’s criminal record. *Id.*

Even if Harrelson’s testimony is considered an oblique reference to a criminal past, “[a] vague reference to a defendant’s prior criminal record is not sufficient to justify a mistrial where there is no attempt by the State to introduce evidence that the accused has been convicted of other crimes.” *State v. Thompson*, 352 S.C. 552, 561, 575 S.E.2d 77, 82 (Ct. App. 2003). *See also State v. George*, 323 S.C. 496, 476 S.E.2d 903 (1996) (noting defendant’s involvement in illegal narcotics was merely suggested and no testimony was presented concerning such behavior where witness was asked if defendant was involved in the drug business), *State v. Wiley*, 387 S.C. 490, 692 S.E.2d 560 (Ct. App. 2010) (mention of outstanding warrant in State’s opening argument to explain basis for traffic stop not sufficiently prejudicial to warrant mistrial) As such, Harrelson’s statement did not warrant a mistrial.

II.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the booking photos of Appellant taken when he was arrested for the current offense. The photos were relevant, and it was made clear that the photos were taken when Appellant was arrested for the current offenses. As such, the photographs in no way suggest that Appellant had a prior criminal record.

Appellant expressed concern with the introduction of the booking photo from his arrest for the current charge on March 21, 2013, during pre-trial motions. (R. pp. 2-3)

Defense counsel explained that the case had been called for trial on prior occasions when Appellant was not present, and on those occasions the booking photo was needed to show Appellant for comparison with the video of the CI buy. (R. p. 2) Defense counsel stated that because Appellant was present for trial, it was not necessary to introduce the photo. (R. pp. 2-3) Specifically, Appellant's objection was articulated as "They don't need photographs. They have the opportunity to look at my photo- my client and with him being present if that piece of evidence comes in at this point, Your Honor." (R. p. 3, lines 10-13.) The State argued that the photo would assist the jury in determining that Appellant was properly identified as the person in the video. (R. pp. 2-3) The trial court overruled the objection pre-trial and again when the booking photos were introduced. (R. p. 3, p. 184)

As a preliminary matter, Appellant's objection was not specific nor did it raise any concern regarding the fact that any "mug shot," as such, was inadmissible. "[A] specific objection to the admission of evidence must be made to preserve the issue for appeal." McKissick v. J.F. Cleckley & Co., 325 S.C. 327, 344, 479 S.E.2d 67, 75 (Ct. App. 1996). "The objection should be sufficiently specific to bring into focus the precise nature of the alleged error so that it can be reasonably understood by the trial judge." Id. "The same ground argued on appeal must have been argued to the trial judge." Id.

Even if preserved as an objection based on relevance, there was no error in admitting the photographs. Appellant's arguments are without merit because the booking photo was relevant to identification and because its probative value substantially outweighed any danger of undue prejudice. The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 564 S.E.2d 87 (2002); State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001). A court's ruling on the

admissibility of evidence will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error which results in prejudice to the defendant. State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-848 (2006); State v. Rice, 375 S.C. 302, 314, 652 S.E.2d 409, 415 (Ct. App. 2007); State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 543 S.E.2d 586 (Ct. App. 2001) (overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005)). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support. State v. Irick, 344 S.C. 460, 463, 545 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001); State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 540 S.E.2d 464 (2000); State v. Mattison, 352 S.C. 577, 575 S.E.2d 852 (Ct. App. 2003).

As a general rule, all relevant evidence is admissible. State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000); Rule 402, SCRE. Evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy. In the Matter of Care and Treatment of Corley, 353 S.C. 451, 577 S.E.2d 451 (2003); State v. King, 349 S.C. 142, 561 S.E.2d 640 (Ct. App. 2002); Rule 401, SCRE (“‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.”).

Here, the identity of the person who met with the CI and sold him crack was relevant to guilt or innocence at trial, particularly where Appellant questioned the photo lineup (R. pp. 209-10), questioned the time stamp on the video (R. pp. 170-71, pp. 215-16), and questioned the credibility of the CI who identified Appellant. An alibi defense was also mentioned in pretrial discussions, and the solicitor may have anticipated that such a defense might be raised. (R. p. 4) The booking photos had a tendency to make the determination of identity more probable than it would be without the photos; therefore

the photos are relevant. Rule 401, SCRE. In this regard, it is particularly interesting to note that the booking photos reveal that Appellant had a fairly unique thin chinstrap beard when he was arrested just over 2 weeks after the undercover purchase. (State's Exhibits 7 and 8) The still photo from the undercover buy shows the suspect with the same distinctive thin chinstrap beard. (State's Exhibit 3) While it is true that jurors could view Appellant in court and compare his appearance to the video, it is better to have them compare the way he looked at the time of the incident to the video.⁵

“Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE; see also State v. Cooley, 342 S.C. 63, 536 S.E.2d 666 (2000) (although evidence is relevant, it should be excluded where danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighs its probative value). A trial judge's decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. Hamilton, 344 S.C. at 357, 543 S.E.2d at 593. The appellate courts review a trial court's decision regarding Rule 403 pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard and are obligated to give great deference to the trial court's judgment. Id. at 358, 543 S.E.2d at 593. See Aleksey, 343 S.C. at 35, 538 S.E.2d at 256 (trial judge is given broad discretion in ruling on questions concerning relevancy of evidence, and his decision will be reversed only if there is a clear abuse of discretion).

Appellant failed to argue any prejudice from the photos in his objection to the trial court. On appeal, Appellant argues the introduction of the photos from his *current* arrest

⁵ The trial occurred more than a year after the initial CI purchase. A person's appearance can certainly change over the course of a year, particularly as to features such as facial hair.

were “presented solely for the improper purpose of drawing attention to Appellant’s past criminal record in order to suggest that Appellant was guilty in the present case.” There is no indication in the booking photo from his *current* arrest that he was ever arrested in the past, much less that he had any prior criminal record. The arrest on March 21, 2013, was for the offense for which he is on trial, and this was made clear to the jury. (R. pp. 157-58, pp. 181-85) Appellant’s assertion of prejudice requires a premise that if a person is arrested once, he must have been arrested before. If such were the case, any person on trial would be prejudiced by the imagined existence of a prior record. This is an unreasonable logical leap where, as here, the State went to great lengths to ensure that the jury understood the photos were from the arrest for the charges for which he was on trial. Since Appellant was on trial, it should come as no great surprise that he was arrested and booked in this case. In fact, the trial court instructed the jury that the fact Appellant was charged raises no inference of guilt. (R. p. 232)

Appellant points to the three criteria for admission of a “mug shot” from State v. Denson, 269 S.C. 407, 412, 237 S.E.2d 761, 763-764 (1977):

- (1) The Government must have a demonstrable need to introduce the photographs; and
- (2) The photographs themselves, if shown to the jury must not imply that the defendant has a prior criminal record; and
- (3) The manner of introduction at trial must be such that it does not draw particular attention to the source or implication of the photographs.

The rationale for the three criteria outlined in Denson is that such photographs can be prejudicial where they imply a defendant’s prior bad acts. State v. Traylor, 360 S.C. 74, 85, 600 S.E.2d 523, 528, n. 12 (2004). There was no such concern in the present case. It was made clear to the jury that the photograph was taken on March 21, 2013, just over 2

weeks after the CI buy on March 5, 2013, when Appellant was arrested for that CI buy. (R. pp. 157-59, pp. 181-85) As such, the photograph raised no implication of a prior bad act; it was associated only with the alleged crimes for which Appellant was on trial. Because the picture did not raise an inference of prior criminal activity, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the photograph. *Id.* (no prejudice to defendant where jury was informed that mug shots were taken upon his arrest for charges on trial); State v. Washington, 658 S.W.2d144 (Tenn. Crim. App., 1983) (where mug shot of defendant admitted at trial bore the date of the offense charged at the trial, pictures did not raise inference of prior criminal activity and were therefore properly admitted). Further, any error in the admission was harmless, particularly in light of the overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt.

III.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Appellant's request for a mistrial based on a note from the alternate juror prior to closing arguments. There were no discussions among the jurors, and the alternate's note was written and submitted to the court by him in order to clarify a procedural matter. Therefore, there were no premature deliberations. Moreover, any possible prejudice was removed through the court's instructions and dismissal of the alternate juror. As such, the extreme remedy of a mistrial was not warranted.

After the State rested and Appellant informed the court he would not testify, the court received a note from the jury. (R. p. 198) The note inquired about the booking photos of the defendant, asking if the photos were allowed and, if so, why they were not shown to the jury. (R. p. 198) Appellant moved for a mistrial, arguing the jury's note indicated they had failed to follow the court's instructions not to consider or discuss the case until they were told to do so. (R. pp. 198-99) The trial judge took the motion for

mistrial under advisement and summoned the jury to the courtroom.⁶ (R. pp. 199-200) The trial judge asked the foreman whether the jury had been discussing the case. (R. pp. 200-01) The foreman replied that there were no discussions. (R. p. 201) The alternate then indicated he personally wrote the note because “it was just a question that [he] had [him]self,” and that there had been no discussions about the question. (R. p. 201) The alternate juror was dismissed. (R. p. 201) The trial court denied the Appellant’s motion for mistrial, noting that any issue had been cured. (R. pp. 202-03)

Appellant’s argument fails for several reasons. First, Appellant’s argument fails because there was no actual deliberation. Jurors are not to *discuss* the case before it is given to them for consideration. The court’s inquiry indicates that no jurors discussed or were even aware of the alternate’s question; the alternate only conveyed his question to the trial court. As such, the alleged “deliberation” occurred only inside the mind of the alternate. Premature deliberations are forbidden because “the human mind is constituted such that when a juror *declares* himself, touching any *controversy*, he is apt to stand by his *utterances to the other jurors* in defiance of evidence.” State v. McGuire, 272 S.C. 547, 552, 253 S.E.2d 103, 105 (1979). [Emphasis supplied.] A juror is permitted to “keep his own counsel,” though he may not express his thoughts on the case to other jurors. Id. Here, the alternate juror made no declarations or utterances to his fellow jurors, and his note to the judge did not touch on any matter in controversy. In the absence of actual premature deliberation, Appellant’s argument for a mistrial on that basis fails.

Further, State v. Hoffman, 312 S.C. 386, 440 S.E.2d 869 (1994) is instructive in this matter. In Hoffman, on the fourth day of trial, the jury sent out a note asking for clarification of a witness’ testimony, whether a jury had the right to ask for clarification

⁶ The trial judge agreed with defense counsel’s suggestion that the entire jury should be brought in “so that if somebody disagrees with what the foreman says, they can be – their opinion can be voiced.” (R. p. 200)

of testimony, and whether there was a procedure where a juror could ask a question of a witness. The Hoffman court first noted that the trial judge had not condoned premature deliberations and in fact gave a standard instruction forbidding premature deliberations. The trial judge found that “the note showed that the jury was merely attempting to define their role in the trial process rather than deliberating on the merits.” Id. at 392, 440 S.E.2d 873. In affirming the trial court’s denial of the motion for mistrial, the Hoffman court found the judge’s findings supported by the record and any potential harm cured by the instruction issued regarding premature deliberations.

In the present case, as in Hoffman, the trial court gave ample instruction during the trial regarding premature deliberations. (R. pp. 34-35, p. 90, p. 200) Further, as in Hoffman, the juror’s question indicates a procedural concern more than any consideration of the merits of the case. The alternate merely asked if the photos were allowed into evidence and, if so, why they were not shown to the jury. The photos were, in fact, allowed in evidence. The juror’s question seems particularly logical in light of the fact that other photographs admitted into evidence had been published to the jury when admitted. (See for example R. p. 144, p. 154) As such, the present case does not warrant the extreme measure of a mistrial.

Moreover, Appellant failed to show any prejudice. The trial court in the present case also removed the alternate from the case, presumably in an abundance of caution. Combined with the trial court’s instructions, the removal of the alternate juror certainly prevented any possible prejudice. In grasping at some conceivable prejudice, Appellant argues that the solicitor was able to tailor his closing argument as to the issue of identity. Interestingly, the solicitor had prepared a Power Point slide presentation for his oral argument. (R. p. 203) He shared the entire presentation with defense counsel as soon as

the juror issue was resolved. (R. p. 203) The solicitor would have to be quick indeed in order to create his presentation within seconds of finding out about the juror question. If anything, the defense, in reviewing the Power Point, gained an advantage by previewing the solicitor's argument before making its own. (R. pp. 203-05)

IV.

There is no error, much less cumulative error, and any preserved errors are harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt. A defendant is entitled to a fair trial, not a perfect one. In light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt, even a perfect trial would not prevent the inevitable result of Appellant's conviction.

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